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                                                   Master Pskov.

From the history.
 Pskov  is one of the oldest Russian cities. It  is first mentioned in Russian chronicles in 903, on the occasion of the wedding of Kiev prince Igor (the son of Ryurik, the first prince of Old Rus), and the future princess Olga (later canonized and known as Saint Olga), who was a native of Pskov. However, the settlement at this place existed long before that, at least from 9th century. First, Pskov was directly ruled by Kiev princes (as well as all the other Old Rus). After Novgorod became independent, in 12th-14th centuries Pskov was subordinate to Novgorod. It is interesting that Pskov citizens had special rights: They were allowed to participate in Novgorod veche — popular assembly which had the supreme authority in Novgorod — as if they were Novgorod citizens. At the same time, they elected their own princes, not necessarily the same ones as in Novgorod. Thus, from 1266 to 1299 the prince of Pskov was Lithuanian refugee Dovmont (Christian name — Timofey). As well as Novgorod, Pskov lied too far North and was spared from the Monghol invasion. Its subsequent history is determined by the convenient location at the trading ways between Russia and the Baltic region, and also by the fact that the city was always a Western Russian outpost. For many centuries, till 1700s, Pskov was involved in wars with German knight orders, Lithuania (later Poland), Sweden, and also periodically had hostile relations with neighboring Novgorod. Even though close surroundings of the city (including Mirozh monastery) were plundered many times, Pskov was never conquered. In 1348, it became fully independent from Novgorod, and in 1510 joined the Moscow state. At the times of Ivan the Terrible, Pskov managed to avoid the fate of the neighboring Novgorod, which was plundered by the troops sent for this purpose by Ivan. In 1581, during the Livonian war between Russia and Poland, Pskov was sieged by the Polish troops of king Stefan Batory, but survived. At the Time of Troubles — the period 1606-1610, when Russia was in chaos and the statehood was in danger — the city supported both False Dimitris, Polish backed contenders to the Russian throne, but refused to take an allegiance oath to Polish prince Vladislav. In 1707, in the course of the first administrative reform of Peter the Great, Pskov was included into Ingermanland (Saint-Petersburg) Governorship. From 1777 it became a center of its own, Pskov governorship. After the Northern War and annexation of Baltic states by Russia (1721) the state border was moved far away West from Pskov, and the latter gradually turned into an ordinary provincial town. In 1917 at Pskov train station Tsar Nicholas the Second signed his abdication; in 1918, Pskov for nine months was occupied by German troops. The city was also occupied, and also by Germans, during the Second World War, from July 1941 till July 1944, and considerably damaged during the occupation.

Pskov initially rose as a trade and craft town, which also had an important strategic (defence) importance. Until 1650 (which is 150 years after it was appended to Muscovy) Pskov issued its own coins. The city developed its unique school of icon painting, which is easily distinguishable even from the closest one in Novgorod. In 18th — 19th centuries the city passed through a period of economy decline.
Blessed Pskov.
  “Blessed Pskov”… It’s the ancient Russian city which  is the homeland of princess Olga - the first Christian in Russ and a turning point for Russia - the end of Roman's dynasty - took place here too. It is a city where Nikolay II abdicated. What did the city look like when it was seen by the last Tsar of Russia?
In August 1903 the Tsar came to celebrate the 1000th anniversary of Pskov and to survey the troops located there. A well-kept city, that had been cherished by the Pskovites science the times of Princess Olga< came into view of Tsar Nikolay II. All the city population: officers in full uniforms, merchants in full dress and smartly looking children came to welcome the Tsar. All the way of the emperor as decorated with triumphal arches and gates, garlands of flowers, coats of arms. At the Market Place the Pskovites had displayed flags on the monument to his grandfather-liberator Alexander II who had abolished serfs.
     A magnificent view of the Pskov Kremlin at the junction of the Velikaya and Pskova-river opened up before the Tsar. The sun rays struggling through the clouds streamed down on the Trinity Cathedral. According to the legend, three bright rays lit the hill, like God’s blessing pouring on that land. And Olga ordered to build there the Cathedral of Holy Trinity. It was a wooden one. The second one made of stone, was erected by Vsevolod-Gavriil. The third one which was most outstanding was so surprisingly beautiful, that all over Russ it was spoken of as a miracle.
But after 300 years' life it got kind of “tired” and decayed. As a result it was destroyed. The snow-white one in which the Tsar prayed for the prosperity of the land of Pskov, was erected in 1699. The Trinity Cathedral is a sacred thing of Russia. The royal guests ascended the wide  staircase leading to the Trinity Cathedral. There they were met by bishop Sergy. He welcomed them and held a church service.  Then the royal family viewed the relics of the Cathedral: Princess Olga's wooden cross and the ancient icon of the Holy Trinity and the grand iconostasis. It is one of the highest in Russia. Usually iconostasis consists of five circles of icons, but this one is seven-circled. It was being constructed in XVII just simultaneously with the walls of the cathedral. The iconostasis is made from the lime and covered with tinsel. There are a lot of flowers ,pear and bunches of grapes in its ornament. The icons for the Trinity Cathedral iconostasis were painted in Moscow by the masters of the Armoury. The ancient seal with the inscription “The Seal of the State of Pskov”, golden coins of the times of Ivan the Terrible , a wooden staff of a clergy from Novgorod were showen to the Tsar as well. It dates down to the time when Pskov was a so-called “younger brother” of Novgorod (1436). Also the Tsar saw the manuscript of the church book “Gospel”, written in 1532. 
 In Pagankin's Chambers children from the birds protecting society '' The  May Union'' greeted the Tsar with bread and salt. In 1900 there was founded a museum in the merchant's house “Pagankin's Chambers” by the decree of Nikolay II. The Tsar wanted to see how his decree had been carried out.
      Then the royal family was shown Governor's park, which is situated between the church of St. Anastasia of Rome. There was a tiny fountain and also there were ponds with swans in them. The Governor's park was fenced. Only on some particular days the gates would open for visitors. The Tsar was touched by the hospitality of the Pskovites. The Pskovites were glad to hear from the Tsar that he found Pskov being kept in exemplary order. The chairman of the district counsel Gorbunov suggested that the Tsar should visit the Mirozhsky Monastery.
       It's a real treasure of Russia. There is unique painting there - frescoes of the 12-th century. The alike samples of Byzantium art survived only in Bulgaria, Greece and in Pskov. Ancient masters would add some natural ground stones into the paint on the damp plaster: for green colour they used malachite, for red ruby, and for dark blue-lapis lazurit.  That’s why the paintings remain bright through ages. It was the last place the royal family visited before leaving Pskov. Nikolay II saw the frescoes on the walls and the Cupola of Our Saviour”s Transfiguration Cathedral in Mirozhsky Monastery.
     Once there was an ''alive'' bridge in Pskov! 
   There was one across the Velikaya-River. It was a floating bridge made of many logs all tied together. When one walked on it the logs moved under the feet, that’s why they would call the bridge ''alive''. Mention of such a bridge in chronicles was made for the first time in 1462. People had to pay for using a floating bridge.  Tsar Nikoiay II found this bridge very inconvenient for Pskovites. He ordered to build a stone bridge in Pskov. The new bridge was built in 1911. It was a fine bridge, with three arches and towers. Right near it there was erected the chapel of Saint Anastasia so that any traveller on coming to Pskov could enter it and thank God for the successful journey. Frescoes painting inside the chapel were made by the famous artist Nikolay Rerikh. The new bridge was named ''Olginsky''. It is after our saint princess Olga!
The Pskovites had always been fond of their city and tried to make it look lovelier. Now there is a puppet theatre there. There is one more theatre in Pskov. It is Pushkin Drama Theatre.
The ancient city of Pskov with its numerous churches which seemed to appear from out of very earth impressed the Tsar very much. He was pleased with his survey of troops too. After that trip the Tsar decided to have a military cathedral built in Pskov. Pskov is a warrior city. For ages it has stood guard over western frontiers of Russia. It was here that the troops of Alexander Nevsky smashed the German Knights in the famous battle on ice (1242). That’s why the Tsar issued the order to build a cathedral for soldiers and officers. And in 1908 an extremely beautiful cathedral in name of St. Prince Alexander Nevsky rose erect on Olga’s quay. 
   Nikolay II didn't know that sometime before his stay in Pskov it had been visited by a man, who would soon destroy his empire. His name was Vladimir Ulyanov (Lenin).He wanted to dethrone the Tsar and to establish a new political system-socialism. Pskov was the place of his exile. During his stay in Pskov Lenin made preparations for issuing a new newspaper ''Iskra'' for people to read about the hard life of poor people and about the ways one could struggle for a better life. All people in Russia were divided into rich and poor. Lenin thought of making all equal. In October 1917 the October Revolution, that changed the life of all the people took place. Tsar Nicolay II abdicated the crown. It happened in Pskov at night on March 2,1917.
   After the Revolution Soviet Russia made peace with Germany ceding a part of its territory to the Germans. Pskov became a border city again. Breaking the treaty Germany attacked the young Soviet Republic in February, 1918.
Pskov was the first city to defend it. In battles for Pskov on February, 23 the Red Army was born. Its original name was the Day of the Soviet Army and the Navy. Soviet Russia became a part of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, the USSR. It was a difficult period of time and people studied to live in a new way. 
On June 22, 1941 Germany attacked the Soviet Union. The Germans seized a large part of the Russian territory and approached Moscow suburbs.
 In 17 days after the beginning of the war Germans occupied Pskov and had been holding it for 3 years. They turned the city into their headquarters. School buildings were turned into hospitals and casernes. The Hitlerites evicted the citizens to Germany and made them work for the German army. The Russian people hated German invaders and stood up to them by means. The land of Pskov became the land of partisans.
Having driven all the unbidden guest out of Russia, Pskov rose from ruins. Old monuments, mighty fortification walls, towers, churches being erected. An important place in the history of the Russian state belongs to Pskov, a lovely flourishing city keeping memories of the past and striving for the future. It fascinates us again with its magic beauty and glory. It could not be otherwise, because ancient Pskov is a blessed city. 
  
Again about history.
	Over one thousand years ago on the hill people settled down to live just where the Pskova-river joins the Velikaya- River. They lived then in small dwellings, kind of caves or holes in earth. The people living there were so few in number, that they all knew each other by name.
         The name of the city comes from the Russian word «pleskat», which means «to lap» in English. So we can say that its first name Pskov got from the river which lapped at the banks. 
         Time passed and things began to change. Houses made of wood with stoves and the floors made of clay were built. The settlement now covered the promontory at the junction of the Velikay and Pskova rivers. It was enclosed with a wall made of wood to keep the people and their cattle safe there over night, for there were thick woods surrounding the settlement.
          Our ancestors did everything for themselves. They hunted wild animals in woods and gathered berries in the bogs, kept domestic animals such as cows, pigs and hens, they also grew peas, beans, wheat, turnips. For harvesting they used a reaping-hook (a sickle) made of iron, for grinding grains they used a millstone.
          They made clothes from sheepwool, animal skins and flax. They also could make plates and dishes from clay which they shaped with their hands just the way you shape plasticine.
         But Pskov as a city was first mentioned in the year of  903 in the famous chronicle «The Tale of Bygone Years». There is an entry in this chronicle which states that «the Kievan Prince lgor was brought from the town of Pskov a wife, Olga by the name». This very period of time is considered to be the starting point of the history of our City.  She was beautiful and very clever. She had rosy cheeks, blue eyes, a fair plait, that was as thick as an arm. Her name was Olga. 
          She lived in the village of Vybuty situated on the bank of the Velikaya River about 12 kilometers from Pskov.
          One day young handsome Prince lgor rode by the river. He saw the young beauty and asked her to ferry him to the other side of the river. They had a long talk, but what they said to each other no one knows. But the young prince did not forget about that meeting and sent match-makers to Olga and so she married him and became the Great Kievan Princess. 
          Prince Igor did not regret his decision to marry Olga. She made a wise and kind wife. Igor used to ride around his lands on peace and war affairs. One day he was brought dead from his march and so Olga had to rule the Kievan state alone. Peace was established all over. New fortresses, roads were being built.
            In 955 Olga went to Constantinopol, the capital of Byzantine Empire. There she was christened.
            Thus Olga became the first Christian in pagan Russ. Once Olga decided to visit her motherland. Big and strong oarsmen were rowing a boat down the Velikaya-river towards the homeland. The day was declining. The boat landed and Olga stepped on the native beach and began to pray. All of a sudden three bright rays threw light down on the cape ahead. That dazzling golden light was like Gods blessing pouring on the earth. Olga jumped to her feet, stricken by what she was seeing. And she said: Here, at this very place I will build Holy Trinity Cathedral!
             But at first it was made of wood. The Holy Trinity Cathedral which you know now is the fourth version of the original one and it was built three hundred years ago. The wooden Trinity Cathedral was rebuilt into a white-stone one by Vsevolod-Gavriil. He was a grandson of the famous Kievan prince Vladimir Monomakh. He had been the Prince of Pskov- less than a year (1137-1138), but manager to do so many good things that after his death the grateful Pskovites proclaimed him a Saint and the Patron of Pskov.
              Around the Trinity Cathedral there were erected the stone walls of the Kremlin, which they used to call Krom or «Detinetz». It was separated from the city by a deep moat full of water. The moat joined the Pskova and the Velikaya river. 
               You know, in old days they used to call the warriers of a prince «deti», and the place where they were located was named «Detinetz». It got the name of «Kremlin» in the 14 century.
                The grand Trinity Cathedral became the most important place in Pskov. They used to crown princes there, received distinguished guests in it. They also kept the town treasury, seals, charters there. Besides, they buried Pskovien and prime bishops there. Even today Saints relics, princess Olga’s cross and miraculous icons are kept there. 
Monastery.  
                  There are man’s and women’s monasteries. The Mirozhsky Monastery is a man’s one, it was founded by Novgorodian archibishop Nifont
                  The Ivanovsky Convent was built by Pskovian princess Ephrosinya. At the walls of the Ivanovsky Convent they used to bury Pskovian princesses. But today, nuns live only in the Snetogorsky monastery, which in former time was for men. It was founded by Dovmont. 
The Christmas Cathedral of the monastery was painted by Pskovian masters. The monastery got its name from a small fish called "snetok".
Battles.
In the time Pskov grew and became even more prosperous. Pskov was guarded by special troops, called "druzhina". They used to fight enemies who attacked the city.
In Pskov there were some great deeds. There was a battle between Russian troops and Greman Knights. It took place on the 5th of April of the year 1242 at the confluence of Chudskoe and Pskovskoe lakes. The Russian troops were led by prince Alexander the Nevsky.
"Remember, - he addressed his warriors, - they have might, but we have truth, so we will win". German troops formed a wedge and the armorclad knights moved forward with their lances leveled at our warriors.
But Alexander the Nevsky had thought of a trap for this "wedge". He placed his best troops on the flanks so that the wretched knights would have no room to maneuver but instead would have to flee over the thin spring ice of Chudskoe lake. This is what the chronicle says about it: "And there was a fierce battle and there was heard a crash of broken spears and there was a sound of swords like a frozen lake ready to move". But the iron armour of the Germans was so heavy that they began to sink through the ice.
Alexander the Nevsky was standing on the high "Vorony stone" (raven's stone) and directed his troops from it. Later on some archeologists discovered the remains of this stone at the bottom of Chudskoe Lake.
After the battle prince Alexander and his troops came back to Pskov with glory. And the sun was so bright, and the bells were chiming so loudly!
And the Pskovites would never forget the words Alexander  the Nevsky said on that day: "Whoever comes to us with a sword will die by the sword".
Dovmont-Timophey ( "The Tale of Dovmont").
Years passed. Now it was Dovmont-Timophey who became the protector of Pskov.
Dovmont was baptised and accepted the christian name of Timophey. His wife Maria, Alexander the Nevsky's granddaughter.
Dovmont-Timophey was clever, brave, strong and kind. And the Pskovites were fond of their Prince. "The Tale of Dovmont" openes all Pskovian chronicles. We know about nine battles of Dovmont. In each of them he took his sword  which  always brought him victory. The last battle of  the old prince took place in 1299 when German knights once again  came to our land. They surrounded the city and captured the Snetogorsky monastery. Dovmont and his druzhina faced them. The Prince led his glorious warriors, and again our druzhina won. Now at this very site stands the church of  Peter and Paul.
The Pskovites have been  taking care of Dovmont's sword for ages. Now they keep it in the museum of Pskov.
Prince Dovmont-Timophey  ruled exactly 33 years, and remained in people's memory as a glorious prince of victory and as a prince of creation. The part of Pskov that was built during  his reigh is known as the town of Dovmont. There were about 20 buildings in it: stone houses, churches and Dovmont's palace with a secret passage. Between the town of Dovmont and Krom there is a very high wall - named "Pershy" - which means "the first". The other name for it was - "Epic hero's breast" - "Bogatyskaya grud" in Russian.
An independent republic.
For a long time Pskov depended on Novgorod. But the Pskovites 
were proud people and being dependent hurt them. They no longer wanted to live under Novgorod's orders and as a result in 1348 Pskov proclaimed itself an independent republic.
The Pskovites used to govern the city all together. On hearing the bell chime the boyars, tradesmen and clergy of Pskov gathered in the square in front of the Cathedral. They discussed and settled all vital issues of the state of Pskov such as: to start a war or to sue for peace, which  prince to summon to rule over them and what laws to adopt for common weal. This assembly of citizens was called the Veche. The Veche decided to built a fourth fortification wall to protect the 6000 houses of Pskov.
The Pskovites built it just near the park that we know now as Children's park. The mighty towers of the fifth wall fortified the centre of Pskov and the region of Zapskovje. Thus, Pskov became an unconquerable fortress, engirdled with a stone wall 9 kilometres long.
Join Moscow.
At the time Moscow began to unite all the cities of Russia and asked the state of Pskov to join them too.
On the 13 January 1510 the bell of the Veche  sounded louder than ever. All the people, rich and poor, gathered on the square. The decision of the people of Pskov was announced by the major boyarin of Pskov to a herald from Moscow: "Long live the united Russian state. From now on we will live under the protection of Moscow". So Pskov became part and parcel of the united Russian state. The bell of the Veche was taken down and sent to Moscow.


Kremlin from Zavelich'e.


The fortress wall. At the foreground
Ploskaya Bashnya (Flat Tower), behind it River Pskova and
Vysokaya Bashnya (Tall Tower). On the left River Velikaya.


Tserkov' Nikoly na Usokhe 
(Church of St. Nicholas on Usokha, 1536).

Sobor Ioanna Predtechi 
(Cathedral of St. John the Baptist, 1240). 
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